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         This is the book I had long been waiting to write. I have my mother to thank for it. London-born, I first caught a glimpse of the troubled but intimate relationship between Britain and Ireland when every summer we swapped the cacophony of the great metropolis for the implacably rural County Mayo. I am privileged to be Irish as well as British. Friends spent school holidays on the English south coast. The better-off ventured across the Channel to Normandy or Knokke-le-Zoute in Belgium. My brother and I roamed free in the mountains, rivers and boglands around Kiltimagh, my mother’s home in Ireland’s wild west.

         So I have always counted myself among those on both sides of the relationship. As a child I remember bristling at the English caricatures of ‘Paddys’, yet, visiting Mayo, I also quite liked the cachet that came with hailing from the big city. More recently, my spirits have been warmed by Ireland’s rapid emergence as a modern, prosperous, liberal European state, even as I have lamented Britain’s retreat after the self-inflicted wound of Brexit.

         The sense of grievance felt by nationalist Ireland was keenly felt in what had historically been Ireland’s poorest region. But the British were never less than welcome. Mayo had been a fertile recruiting ground for the Volunteers fighting the revolutionary war. But, as my mother would often remind me, nothing then or subsequently justified the merciless violence inflicted on the people of Northern Ireland by the Provisional Irish Republican Army during the Troubles. The fight for independence was one thing; the bombing of women and children utterly beyond the pale.xii

         Personal was overlaid with professional interest when, as political editor and then chief political commentator for the Financial Times, I reported on the closing years of the war and the tortured peace process that finally brought the fighting to an end. During that period I travelled often to Dublin and Belfast, meeting the politicians, community leaders and, occasionally, paramilitaries who were negotiating first a ceasefire and then a political bargain that would salve the wound left by partition. For all the speculation now about a united Ireland, I am conscious the latter is still very much unfinished business.

         Reporting for the FT gave me unique access to those determined to shed the burdens of history, whether via my conversations with John Hume and David Trimble in the members’ lobby of the House of Commons or through access to the thinking of ministers and prime ministers. Politics sometimes works. British leaders such as John Major and Tony Blair had the courage and determination to doggedly pursue a resolution, with no obvious prospect of personal political reward. Albert Reynolds, John Bruton and Bertie Ahern, who stepped out of history to recognise the legitimacy of northern unionism, likewise. Much of this book draws on recollections of the hundreds of conversations with politicians and diplomats that informed my reporting and commentary during those years.

         Beyond the ringside seat, the advantage that comes with writing for a newspaper as special as the FT is that people generally trust you to tell it as it is. I used to congratulate myself on my contacts in some of the more secret corners of Whitehall – coffees in St James’s Park and such like. Later, I learned that this was not entirely a compliment on my journalistic talents. Before the opening of talks with the PIRA, these officials had messages to convey to the PIRA Army Council. They knew that reports in the FT about the government’s intentions would be taken seriously by its leaders.xiii

         The diplomats, and occasional spook, who helped me during those years are too numerous to list here – and many of our conversations were anyhow off the record. What I remember is that visits to Dublin were always as enjoyable as they were informative; trips to Belfast and Derry a reminder of just how much was at stake. Several of these public servants have given me more of their time during the past few years, as I have sought to make sense of the emotions and impulses as well as the statecraft that mapped out a political path for Ireland’s future. The contributions to the peace-making of anonymous public servants too often goes unsung. Diplomats and advisers such as Michael Lillis, Seán Ó hUiginn, Noel Dorr and Martin Mansergh come to mind, as do David Goodall, Quentin Thomas and Sir John Chilcott.

         I owe special personal thanks to Dáithí Ó Ceallaigh, a veteran of Anglo-Irish relations and former ambassador in London, who offered valuable comments and corrections on early drafts of this book, and to John Holmes and Jonathan Powell, who took me blow-by-blow through the British approach to the Good Friday Agreement.

         In searching out the private thoughts of the leading players on both sides during the century since partition, I have mined the treasure troves of the official archives to study the contemporaneous records – cabinet meetings, secret memorandums and the rest – of critical decisions and events. I have also enjoyed the many accounts supplied by the memoirs and diaries of the principal actors. I have benefited too from an abundance of rich histories, most particularly from Irish writers and scholars. I hope I have highlighted the best of these in the Select Bibliography. I have been sparing, though, in the use of endnotes throughout the text, limiting references by and large to my own archival digging, more obscure sources and to instances where the insights of one or other commentator or xivhistorian seem particularly striking. I am conscious that the digital revolution means that familiar quotations, along with speeches and government and parliamentary papers, can be readily accessed via an online search engine.

         Books are a collaborative venture. Sarah Chalfant, my agent at Wylie, has been unstinting in her encouragement, enthusiasm and insights, a rock on which to build my confidence. Laura Hassan at Faber, who kindly took me on again after steering through my last book, Britain Alone, was once again an invaluable guide. Fred Baty helped to order my thoughts and cut out the repetitions, while Robert Davies got the English right and Ian Bahrami added form and polish. Chris Allnutt, a colleague at the FT, deployed all the skills of a first-rate editor. At Faber, Kate Ward pulled everything together with unruffable professionalism. Needless to say, I alone am responsible for the judgements in this book, and for any errors and omissions that have slipped through.

      

   


   
      
         
1
            Prologue

         

         ‘A Uachtaráin, agus a chairde’ (‘President, and friends’). Opening her speech at a banquet hosted by the Irish president, Queen Elizabeth II honoured in a few words a language that the British Crown had for centuries sought to extinguish. The venue, Dublin Castle, had been the cockpit of British colonial power in Ireland. Now, in May 2011, Britain’s monarch reflected on the weight of that history. ‘We can all see things which we would wish had been done differently or not at all,’ she said with regal understatement, addressing the ‘heartache, turbulence and loss’ thrown up by British rule. The day before, she had disembarked at the Irish capital’s Casement Aerodrome, so named to memorialise the republican revolutionary Roger Casement. An Anglo-Irish diplomat who sought the German Kaiser’s guns in the cause of Irish nationalism, Casement was hanged for treason in the months after the 1916 Easter Rising. The queen later bowed her head as she visited the city’s Garden of Remembrance to pay her respects to the republican Volunteers who died alongside Casement in the fight for independence.

         The monarchy could claim few friends in Ireland. Three-quarters of a century earlier, Éamon de Valera, the ‘Chief’ to the many who revered him as the father of the Irish state, had brusquely refused an invitation to attend the coronation of Elizabeth’s father, George VI. When the soon-to-be-crowned king voiced his disappointment to the head of the Irish diplomatic mission in London, John Dulanty, he found the envoy blunt in his response. He told the king, Dulanty reported, that ‘It was indisputable that the history of the two peoples consisted almost entirely of one story – the story 2of the attempt by the British, sustained unbroken through the centuries, to subdue and to possess Ireland. It was similarly an accepted historical fact to say that an equally unbroken resistance by us [the Irish] had defeated that attempt.’ By Dulanty’s account, the king did not quarrel with the characterisation.1

         As a moment of reconciliation between the two nations, the queen’s visit was an unvarnished success. Elizabeth’s words and demeanour, her hosts said, were perfectly judged. Yet the trip raised a question. Why had it taken so long? After all, she was a seasoned traveller. By the time of her death she had made six formal state visits to France and enjoyed many more private stays on the other side of the Channel. She had crossed the Atlantic countless times and ventured to every corner of the Commonwealth. This would be the only trip to the Republic. It was also the first by a reigning monarch to the southern part of Ireland since that of her grandfather George V in 1911, a decade before partition and independence. The House of Windsor had waited nearly a century to bestow the royal seal of approval on the independent Irish state that emerged from the Anglo-Irish Treaty of 1921.

         Here was a relationship beset by confusions, complexities and contradictions, as intimate and intertwined as it has so often been violent and traumatic. The nineteenth-century English novelist William Thackeray returned from a lengthy visit to Ireland to describe it as ‘a dirty and ruinous place’. But he also observed that ‘for a stranger the Irish ways are the pleasantest, for here he is at once made happy and at home, or at ease rather’. Scroll through the centuries and, in 2020, Britain’s Secret Intelligence Service (popularly known as MI6) appointed a new Chief, or ‘C’. Richard Moore, a distinguished diplomat, was given charge of one of the world’s foremost secret intelligence agencies, the home of the fictional James Bond. A century earlier, Moore’s Irish grandfather, Jack 3Buckley, was serving with the IRA Volunteers fighting the British in the revolutionary war of 1919 to 1921. At one point Buckley had been an aide-de-camp to de Valera at his base in County Cork. He was given an IRA medal for his contribution to the war against the British Crown. Not an eyelid was batted when his grandson was entrusted with leadership of Britain’s spooks.

         Ireland is Britain’s closest neighbour. The sea crossing from Scotland measures only twelve miles at its narrowest point. It was also the first possession in what became Britain’s global empire. The two nations’ stories have been interwoven since Anglo-Norman invaders crossed the Irish Sea during the twelfth century. During the following seven hundred years, British rule was often imposed with singular cruelty. It was one thing to conquer Ireland, the English discovered, but quite another to ensure it stayed conquered. The two peoples became deeply intermingled, thrown together by Irish emigration, colonisation, intermarriage and culture. They share the English language. William Butler Yeats was a Protestant born into Dublin’s Anglo-Irish gentry (a heritage that saw him derided by a nationalist contemporary as representative of ‘the English mind in Ireland’). That has not denied him the accolade of Ireland’s greatest poet. Britain’s towns and cities have long been home to a sizeable Irish diaspora. Taps dispensing pints of Guinness sit comfortably alongside those for English ale in Britain’s pubs. The seventeenth-century plantations of English and Scottish settlers created a permanent Protestant presence on a Catholic island. Today, Irish and British citizens have reciprocal rights to vote as residents in each nation’s elections.

         The phrase ‘beyond the pale’ has its origins in the English assumption that anyone venturing beyond the region around Dublin to the Gaelic ‘badlands’ risked falling prey to the uncivilised habits of the Irish. The sense of superiority that came with 4conquest still shows itself among a certain cohort of English politicians who seem to delight in their disdain for Ireland. ‘Why is he not called Murphy like the rest of them?’ Boris Johnson once asked Whitehall officials before a scheduled meeting with Ireland’s prime minister, Leo Varadkar. No one spoke more eloquently to English ignorance and duplicity than Johnson.

         Yet for the most part British and Irish politicians and diplomats seem to like each other. Trust has often been another question. The partition that gave the Republic its independence and left Northern Ireland in the United Kingdom was intended to close the wounds of colonialism, or at the very least allow the British to escape the costly quagmire of armed occupation. Instead, it served to illuminate the deep trenches of sectarianism that had been dug in the British attempt to pacify Ireland by settling it with Protestants. This part of the narrative would be told in the roughly 3,600 lives lost to the bloody conflict that raged across Northern Ireland during the closing decades of the twentieth century.

         The history is shared but viewed through different lenses. ‘As nations, we often mislead and misunderstand each other,’ the British ambassador to Dublin wrote in a dispatch home in 1977. ‘We take the Irish for granted whereas they are obsessed with us. We don’t remember the past and they cannot forget it.’2 It was a perfect description of the enduring tension arising from the asymmetry of the relationship. Britain had written most of Ireland’s history. Ireland was a troublesome footnote in Britain’s imperial story. As often as it conquered it, it could not pacify it.

         This book is not about the long history that began with Henry II’s landing in 1171. Instead, its focus is on the century since the Anglo-Irish Treaty and on the unfinished business of partition. It is impossible, however, to understand the forces shaping the past hundred years – and indeed those that will ultimately determine 5whether partition will give way to Irish unity – without reference to the tumultuous events that preceded it. Jonathan Powell, Tony Blair’s chief of staff during the Good Friday peace negotiations, learned as much in talks with Northern Ireland’s unionists and nationalists. Every meeting with them, he would recount, began with a history lesson, generally a catalogue of grievances. ‘The nationalist and republican version of Irish history begins in the 1160s.’3 The enduring record of repression, conquest and reconquest cannot be erased from the Irish consciousness. As for the conquerors, they never quite confronted the casual callousness with which they habitually treated their nearest neighbour. The Act of Union of 1800 notionally afforded Ireland a place in the United Kingdom. But unlike Scotland and Wales, it would for ever be treated as a colony rather than a partner.

         Partition tends to be viewed entirely through the lens of the formal separation in 1920 of six of the nine counties of the ancient province of Ulster from the twenty-six counties that would form the Free State and, subsequently, the Republic. But England had long before divided its colonial possession. The story of occupation was written in two parts. Until the sixteenth century, the narrative was a familiar one of land grabs and an Anglo-Norman Ascendancy fighting local Gaelic chieftains for territory and resources. The watershed moment came with Henry VIII’s break with the papacy in 1534. Scotland and Wales were receptive to the Protestantism of the Reformation. Ireland remained resolute in its Catholicism – making it a natural ally of the continental powers that retained their fidelity to Rome. The conflict about territory was thus fused with a confessional antagonism that, for the British, bestowed on Ireland a unique strategic significance as a garrison in England’s fights with its Catholic enemies on the European continent. The Protestants from England and Scotland (in the latter 6case mostly of a Presbyterian disposition) who arrived in large numbers to settle on seized Irish lands were dispatched to defend the ramparts against a backdoor invasion of England. Protestant Ulster was born of victory at the Battle of Kinsale, when England’s Queen Elizabeth I defeated the province’s Gaelic lords, led by Hugh O’Neill, the Earl of Tyrone. The ‘Flight of the Earls’ saw their lands divided and subdivided by the settlers. This transformation of the north-eastern corner of the island from a staunchly Gaelic, Catholic province to a Protestant stronghold was completed by Oliver Cromwell with the bloody suppression of a second uprising during the late 1640s. By some estimates up to a third of Ireland’s Catholics died during Cromwell’s brutal reconquest. The survivors were tipped out of Ulster. The choice was ‘Hell or Connacht’ – the sword, or banishment to the barren lands and bogs west of the River Shannon.

         William of Orange’s defeat of the Catholic James II in 1690 at the Battle of the Boyne sealed the Protestant hegemony. Religious allegiance as much as economic and political rights henceforth marked out the ground between ruler and repressed, landowner and landless. The Treaty of Limerick, ratifying William’s victory, had promised equal treatment for Catholics. What followed instead was a series of draconian laws calculated to extinguish the language and cultural identity of the conquered. The Education Act, the Banishment Act, the Registration Act and the Act for the Further Preventing the Growth of Popery left Catholics barred from public office, forbidden from buying land or horses and from carrying arms, prohibited from entering higher education in Ireland or abroad and facing punitive restrictions on trading and commercial activities. By 1728 Catholics had lost the right to vote and had seen their bishops and priests sent into exile. Use of the Irish language was forbidden in the transaction of public business.

         7The irony – and the thread that connects this distant history to the present – was that Ulster’s Protestant community never felt secure in its conquest. Instead, it cast itself as a beleaguered minority in defence of ‘King Billy’s’ victory – a mindset it has held on to during subsequent centuries and that is visibly expressed each summer during the so-called marching season. Founded in 1795 in Armagh, the exclusively Protestant Orange Order set as its lodestar hostility to Catholicism in all its forms. A vigorous defender of Protestant privilege, it was proud of its sectarianism. Its marches in celebration of William’s defeat of James II captured the emerging mindset of a community that saw itself forever under siege. Known officially as the Loyal Orange Institution, it was prominent in its attacks on the nationalist Daniel O’Connell’s campaign for Catholic emancipation during the 1820s. Its lodges became bastions of Protestant supremacy. Religion and loyalty to the monarch, Protestantism and unionism were inextricably joined. Two centuries later, Northern Ireland’s unionists still play the same pipes and drums as they march each summer in celebration of their Britishness. They struggle still to grasp just how un-British this seems to those living in the rest of the United Kingdom.

         The fight for independence that began with the Easter Rising of 1916 was a Catholic as much as a Gaelic revolution. But Irish nationalism had had its Protestant heroes. The Anglo-Irish aristocracy, descendants of the earlier generations of much wealthier settlers and inclined when left to themselves to reach rough-and-ready accommodations with the Gaelic chieftains, often had their own quarrels with English rule. Few stand taller than Theobald Wolfe Tone in the front rank of Irish nationalists. In 1791 he published a celebrated pamphlet, An Argument on Behalf of the Catholics of Ireland, calling for the restoration of Catholic, and Irish, political rights. Wolfe Tone was a well-to-do Protestant barrister practising in Dublin. A 8few years later, his United Irishmen led an abortive uprising against British rule, recruiting for a time disenchanted Presbyterians to the cause. Tone now takes a place in the pantheon of nationalists alongside O’Connell, the much-revered leader who mobilised Catholic Ireland to secure the vote a quarter of a century later.

         The Great Famine of the 1840s is the event forever seared in the Irish memory. It was felt above all by the poor Catholic farmers of the west – descendants of those displaced from the richer lands of the north-east by Cromwell’s Protestant plantations. What ensured that the blight of the potato crop would be a catastrophe of extraordinary magnitude was the callous indifference of Ireland’s masters. Lord Russell’s Whig government in London worried more about the financial health of the Exchequer than the fate of poor Irish farmers. On its instruction the export trade in corn and other cash crops from Ireland continued undisturbed even as many of the country’s workers starved. Charles Trevelyan, the civil servant who headed the Treasury, spoke for an English, Protestant establishment that seemed to revel in Irish hardship. The judgement of God had sent the calamity as a lesson. To offer help would be to create the moral hazard that held that the state should be held responsible for natural misfortune. It helped, of course, that English bigotry protected the Exchequer’s funds. The famine’s dismissal as divine providence claimed a million lives to starvation and disease and forced up to two million souls to flee Ireland, largely for the United States. It is hard to imagine anything that could have been more calculated to fill to the brim the reservoir of Irish rebellion.

         It fell to Charles Stewart Parnell, born into a wealthy Protestant family near Rathdrum, County Wicklow, to thrust the Irish question into the heart of British politics at Westminster and set in train the upheavals that would eventually force retreat. When the Liberal William Ewart Gladstone became prime minister in 9 1868, he promised to ‘pacify’ Ireland. He is remembered now as the champion of Irish Home Rule. Parnell forced the about-turn by binding the grievances of impoverished Catholic farmers to the middle-class cause of self-government for Dublin. A brilliant parliamentarian – his tactics brought the House of Commons to a standstill – Parnell was eventually laid low by a scandal surrounding an extra-marital affair. But the demand for a measure of Irish independence now burned bright in Ireland’s political firmament. By the time he left the stage during the 1890s, the country was rediscovering its Irishness, as social and political – as much as economic – nationalism took hold. This flowering of Gaelic culture and tradition among a new generation of writers and poets at the turn of the twentieth century celebrated a distinctly Catholic Irishness. The revolutionaries who grew up alongside them did the same. The political and the confessional cleavages fused to make Irish nationalism an indisputably Catholic enterprise. In the reflection of the writer and politician Conor Cruise O’Brien, ‘He [Parnell] was the Protestant leader of a Catholic people.’4

         English disregard for the Irish has been a constant. Often it has seemed the English know less about Ireland than about distant colonies on the other side of the world. For the British, occupying Ireland was first a straightforward act of territorial expansion and later a matter of strategic calculation. Whenever it seemed a threat, English armies responded by creating Irish martyrs. Ireland’s misfortunes under British rule were existential, measured by the flight abroad of its people. On the eve of the Great Famine, the population of the island’s thirty-two counties was estimated at a fraction below 8.2 million. By the time of the last all-Ireland census in 1911, emigration had cut the number to 4.4 million. Ireland’s economic fortunes, political freedoms, confessional choices and cultural identity were subject to edicts promulgated in London. All the while, 10the attitude of the British ruling classes veered between ignorance, irritation and indifference.

         Yet enmity did not suffocate intimacy. Told by the diplomat Dulanty why de Valera was absenting himself from his coronation, King George remained comfortable enough in the Irishman’s company to unburden his own dread of the ceremony:

         
            How would you like to pass through throngs of people for four and a half hours and to know that all the time thousands and thousands of people were staring at you. Hang it, you can’t keep smiling all the time … As I said to my wife, all that is to happen throughout this long ceremony happens to me – everybody else gets off scot free. I have to dress and undress three times.5

         

         Winston Churchill’s legendary shifts in mood spoke to such contradictions. During the Boer War he was lavish in his praise of the fighting spirit of the Irish recruits to the British army. Serving in David Lloyd George’s cabinet a dozen or so years later, he was unrepentant in his determination to crush republicanism. That was not to say he was an enemy of Ireland, though. As he told a pro-Home Rule rally in Belfast in 1912: ‘History and poetry, justice and good sense, alike demand that this race, gifted, virtuous and brave, which has lived so long and endured so much should not, in view of her passionate desire, be shut out of the family of nations.’ The contradictions were not all on the English side. Scotland joined the United Kingdom out of economic calculation, and retained its own customs, laws and culture. Ireland was forced into the union by the English with the purpose of suppressing Irishness. Yet many enterprising Irishmen went on to make their fortunes in the far-flung outposts of the British Empire. Many more were eager recruits to the imperial army. Even as Casement disembarked from a German submarine and Patrick Pearse led republican Volunteers in the seizure of 11Dublin’s General Post Office in 1916, tens of thousands of Irish soldiers were fighting against the Germans on Europe’s Western Front. The government in London twice considered and, sensibly, then thought better of introducing conscription in Ireland, but between 1914 and 1918 an estimated 200,000 Irish men – the majority of them Catholics from the south – did not need to be told to join the British in the trenches. Nor did neutrality during the Second World War stop up to two hundred thousand young Irishmen from crossing to Britain, some to sign on for the army, others to fill the vacancies in British factories left by English conscription. With the return of peace in 1945, young women filled the boats crossing the Irish Sea, seeking a better life in Britain. The creation of the Free State in 1922 gave nationalists free rein to pursue the Arcadian Ireland of de Valera’s project. Irishness, the Chief would discover, did not feed the people. There was nothing bucolic about the rural dereliction visited on Ireland during the post-war decades.

         For their part, the English could never resist the temptation to supply republicanism with the martyrs it craved. The summary execution of the leaders of the 1916 Easter Rising, turning an unpopular rebellion to a sacred affirmation of Irish nationhood, was testimony to how little the English had learned. For Lloyd George’s government, the partition of the island, the starting point for this book, was meant to draw a line under the Irish question. Instead, it provided half an answer. Britain’s politicians judged that they had broken free from an issue that had poisoned Westminster politics for decades. The Irish henceforth could solve their own problems. Republicanism, though denied the full sovereignty demanded by Pearse’s revolutionaries, was given the platform from which to achieve it – in the words of Michael Collins, the freedom to win freedom. Unionists were handed their Protestant fortress. The tragedy was that all three sides would later misread the settlement’s meaning. 12The British assumed they could wash their hands of responsibility for the systematic repression of Northern Ireland’s Catholics. The price of neglect was the outbreak of the Troubles. Irish leaders were blind to the reality that Northern Ireland was a unionist enterprise, born as much of Protestant fear of English betrayal as antipathy towards Catholics. Ireland’s leaders insisted partition was a British choice that had to be undone by Britain. Yet in building their own staunchly Catholic state in the south they gave succour to the unionist case for separation. For their part, unionists assumed they forever deserved the protection of the United Kingdom, but were never to be told what to do by a British government.

         The 1998 Good Friday Agreement, eloquent testimony to the fact that, with the right circumstances and the right political leaders, the intractable can be made tractable, was in good part a reversal of these historic misjudgements. The British government abandoned once and for all the fiction that, as for Scotland or Wales, the affairs of Northern Ireland were the exclusive preserve of the United Kingdom. The Republic acknowledged that Irish unity was not in Britain’s gift. A united island, it agreed, required the backing of the people of Northern Ireland. Unionists finally agreed to share power.

         The accord was never going to erase the anger, resentments and mistrust of the past. It was an armistice as much as a peace. The queen’s visit to Dublin, however, spurred a reasonable hope that the passage of time would apply its balm. The close Anglo-Irish cooperation that had brought an end to Northern Ireland’s sectarian violence would allow for a period of stability. As a modern, economically vibrant European nation, Ireland no longer defined its identity by the grievances of history. Shared membership of the European Union recalibrated the relationship. As for eventual union, why hurry things? A government in Dublin rhetorically 13committed but pragmatically ambivalent showed no inclination to force the pace. There was no need to rush deciding between whether Northern Ireland was content to remain a part of the United Kingdom or whether fading memories and an economic logic mapped the path to a united Ireland.

         Such calculations were thrown into the air by Brexit. The British decision to leave the European Union at once loosened the constitutional bonds of the United Kingdom, injected new tensions into Anglo-Irish relations and jeopardised the delicate political balance between unionist and nationalist identities that had been embedded in the Good Friday Agreement. Brexit confronted unionism with the exceptionalism it had long disavowed. The post-Brexit trade deal struck with Brussels by Boris Johnson’s government promulgated one set of rules for mainland Britain and another for Northern Ireland. Faced with a choice, a Westminster government again elevated what it saw as the interests of Britain – in Johnson’s case, England – above those of the province. The Conservatives still styled themselves as unionists, but had reinvented themselves as the party of English nationalism.

         The political leaders of Fianna Fáil and Fine Gael, the two governing parties that emerged from independence, always found it easier to frame unity as an aspiration rather than a tangible goal. It was simpler to make the case for Irish unity than try to achieve it. The dislocation of Brexit and the emergence of Sinn Féin as a powerful political force in both Northern Ireland and the Republic gave the issue a new immediacy. The answer to the Irish question, however, has remained elusive. The nationalist leaders who won independence for the south and the unionists who walled off the island’s north-eastern corner would not recognise today’s Ireland. The inward-looking, rural, intensely Catholic state built by Éamon de Valera has made way for a prosperous, internationalist and 14increasingly secular society. The walls of the fortress established by the Protestant leader Edward Carson have fallen. Unionist hegemony was broken by the Good Friday Agreement, and Protestants are now outnumbered by Catholics. What’s missing is a sense of what might replace the settlement enshrined in the 1921 Anglo-Irish Treaty.

         The distinguished Irish historian F. S. L. Lyons observed that to understand the past is to cease to live in it. To understand Anglo-Irish relations during the past century is to take several lessons, some already learned, some still to be properly absorbed. Though sovereignty still resides exclusively with Britain, for the foreseeable future the governance of Northern Ireland will remain to all intents and purposes a joint enterprise. For the future, whatever the constitutional path taken by the province, whether continued separation, unification or something in between, Britain cannot simply walk away from its responsibility. A couple of generations of peace will not wash away centuries of accumulated resentments. For nationalism to think unity requires only a narrow majority of voters in the north would be to risk piling new grievances on old. If the island of Ireland is to prosper in peace and security, there can be no ‘victory’ of one community over another. The beginning of understanding the events of the past century is to recognise that it is much easier to imagine a united Ireland than to design such a state.

         
            Notes

            1 Royal Irish Academy/National Archive (Ireland) (hereafter RIA/NAI), Documents on Irish Foreign Policy, No. 29 NAI 2006/39.

            2 National Archives, Kew, FCO 160/191/31.

            3 Jonathan Powell, Great Hatred, Little Room: Making Peace in Northern Ireland (London, 2008), p. 36.

            4 Conor Cruise O’Brien, States of Ireland (London, 2015), p. 27.

            5 RIA/NAI, Documents on Irish Foreign Policy, No. 29 NAI 2006/39.

         

      

   


   
      
         
15
            1 A Divided Peace

         

         There was a theatrical quality to the ultimatum issued by David Lloyd George. The new parliament in Belfast was to reconvene the following day. A Royal Navy frigate, the prime minister told his interlocutors, was standing by to take news of the outcome of their deliberations to the unionist government. After months of arguing, the choice the prime minister presented to the republican negotiators in Downing Street was between accepting the accord before them or bearing responsibility for the ‘terrible war’ Britain would otherwise unleash within days to crush their rebellion. At a little after 2 a.m. on 6 December 1921, the Sinn Féin delegation of Arthur Griffith, Michael Collins, Eamonn Duggan, George Gavan Duffy and Robert Barton signed the articles of agreement for a treaty between Britain and Ireland. The war that had begun nearly three years earlier when Volunteers of the Irish Republican Army had launched a lethal attack on the police in Soloheadbeg, County Tipperary, was over.

         When the Downing Street conference had first met in October, the prime minister’s officials had set a wide table between the two delegations. They were fearful of embarrassment should one of the attending British ministers refuse to extend a hand to the leaders of what they regarded as a lawless insurrection. Now, the seven-strong British side – counting among them Austen Chamberlain and Winston Churchill – walked around to clasp hands with the leaders of a new Irish state. Lloyd George had almost certainly been bluffing. He had indeed promised to send an update on the progress of the talks to the Ulster leader James Craig. He had played his hand 16skilfully – even to the point of drafting a statement explaining the breakdown of the talks. The Irish side, this said, had presented to the British ‘proposals which would break the empire in pieces, dislocate society in all its self-governing nations and cancel forever the hope of national unity in Ireland itself’.1 But there was no immutable deadline. Rather, Lloyd George considered he had exhausted his political room for compromise. The ultimatum was a last throw.

         The rock-strewn path to the treaty and the partition of Ireland was marked out with blood, prejudice, political opportunism and deception, culminating in the armed uprising that began in Limerick. Peace had taken its time. The Tory statesman Benjamin Disraeli had defined the challenge in 1844, during a speech to the House of Commons on the eve of the Great Famine:

         
            A dense population, in extreme distress, inhabit an island where there is an Established Church, which is not their Church, and a territorial aristocracy, the richest of whom live in foreign capitals. Thus you have a starving population, an absentee aristocracy, and an alien Church; and in addition the weakest executive in the world. That is the Irish Question.

         

         The Liberal statesman William Gladstone had tried to offer an answer with his proposals during the 1880s for Home Rule. His premiership had been broken by the endeavour.

         The promise of the treaty was to set both nations free – the twenty-six counties of the Free State from seven centuries of violent repression; and the British from the disruptive intrusion into the affairs of the empire that came with ruling a nation that did not want them. Partition, its authors hoped, would draw a line not just across Ireland but under a conflict Britain had come to understand it could not win. The new Northern Ireland’s place in the United Kingdom would be unique: separated but attached, Irish but still 17British. For Michael Collins, the military commander of the IRA Volunteers whose war had brought Lloyd George’s coalition government to the negotiating table, the treaty was an imperfect outcome, but one that put Ireland on the path to the freedom it craved. Lloyd George’s adviser Philip Kerr caught the British mood when he remarked that the agreement would achieve two vital objectives: ‘It would take Ulster out of the Irish question which it has blocked for a generation and it would take Ireland out of English party controversies.’2 For the following half-century, Kerr might have argued he had been right. But then, as Northern Ireland fell to violent conflict, it was revealed as a truce rather than a peace.

         For Irish nationalism, the loss of most of Ulster was proof of immutable English perfidy. The very existence of Northern Ireland (unionists would have preferred to call it Ulster) was a baleful reminder of the legacy of colonisation. But then for Lloyd George’s government, partition was not so much a principled plan as another chapter in the narrative of political expediency that guided British policy towards Ireland. It was shaped by English politics rather than Irish geography. The bargain fell far short of the republicans’ aspirations for an independent, sovereign and united Ireland because a British prime minister considered that Dominion status within the empire for the twenty-six counties was as much as he could offer the revolutionaries without forcing a confrontation with Craig’s unionists and provoking the collapse of his own coalition government. If Collins would characterise the treaty as a stepping stone to full nationhood, for Britain’s ruling class it was counted as a blessed release.

         The Government of Ireland Act that had been passed into law by Herbert Asquith’s Liberal government seven years earlier had for a moment seemed to map a political accommodation between London and Dublin. Asquith had succeeded where Gladstone had 18failed in piloting through the Westminster parliament an arrangement to reconcile Irish demands for self-government with the British imperative that Ireland remain within the family of the empire. In truth, the plan for a new Dublin parliament that kept Ireland firmly within the bounds of the empire was always set to fail. As so often in the history of Anglo-Irish relations, the terms of the proposed settlement were crafted without reference to political realities in Ireland. What might have met the demands of the celebrated Irish nationalist Charles Stewart Parnell during the 1880s had been overtaken by events. As it turned out, the onset of war with the Kaiser in 1914 ensured the attempt to implement Asquith’s plan would be suspended for the duration of hostilities with Germany. But anyway it was out of time. Falling short of the aspirations of nationalism, it was also anathema to a Protestant population in the north-east that had circled the wagons of implacable unionism against any accommodation with the Catholic south. John Redmond, the leader of the constitutional nationalists in the Irish Parliamentary Party (IPP), had acquiesced in Asquith’s plan, albeit with great reluctance. Edward Carson, the fiery Dublin-born lawyer who dominated the unionist politics of the north during the decade after 1910, had railed against the act as ‘a sentence of death with a stay of execution’.

         Lloyd George’s peace treaty was nothing if not true to the organising impulse of British, or more accurately English, attitudes to Ireland: the balance of interests and votes at Westminster took precedence over the force or the justice of any of the arguments heard in Ireland itself. Gladstone’s attempts to deliver a measure of self-government had foundered in the face of Conservative hostility and divisions in his own party between Home Rulers and self-proclaimed Liberal unionists who shared Tory fears that concessions to Irish nationalism would strike at Britain’s global standing. In 19 1895 Gladstone’s departure saw the Liberals swept from office by Lord Salisbury’s Conservatives. Parnell’s IPP, which for a decade had contrived to set the agenda of politics at Westminster, fractured. Disgraced by public disclosure of an affair with the married Kitty O’Shea, Parnell died prematurely in 1891. Robbed of its charismatic leader, the party fell into internal squabbles.

         For a handful of Conservatives, opposition to Irish Home Rule reflected family background, typically infused with visceral disdain for the native Irish. Andrew Bonar Law, who led the party’s battle against Asquith’s Home Rule bill, hailed from a staunchly unionist family. He belonged to those who shared the opinion of the writer and historian James Anthony Froude that the fault in Ireland lay in the deeply flawed character of the Irish people: ‘a race which seemed incurable’, as Froude put it. Others in the party were driven by a broader but deep-seated anti-Catholic prejudice. What pulled the various factions together was the wider fear, shared by Liberal Party unionists and heightened by the Boer rebellion in southern Africa, that concessions to Irish nationalism would signal weakness. The loss of Ireland, they concluded, would risk the unravelling of Britain’s great empire. What clinched the argument was cynical electoral calculation. ‘Ulster will fight, and Ulster will be right’: Randolph Churchill’s notorious unionist rallying cry against Irish nationalism in 1886 had owed nothing to political principle. The purpose was to destabilise Gladstone. So it was with Tory backing for Carson’s insurrection against Asquith’s plan thirty years later. Leading a party that had been divided by arguments about imperial trade preferences and protectionism, Bonar Law saw a way to cement at once his own position and force the Liberals from office. Political calculation counted above the risk of civil war in Ireland.

         For a short period after Parnell’s death, it seemed Ireland might slip back into the shadows of British political life. The respite was 20illusory. While Britain looked away, the nationalist cause was gaining force. Parnell’s campaign had harnessed to nationalism the deep resentments of the Catholic majority at punitive landownership and tenancy laws. His cause was essentially economic. The intention was that a Home Rule parliament would offer continued allegiance to the British Crown. Irish control of domestic affairs would thus do nothing to undermine the empire’s authority over foreign and defence matters, trade and, ultimately, economic policy. As the Victorian made way for the Edwardian age, however, the world was changing. Irish nationalism took on a more radical hue. Parnell had spoken to the need for constitutional adjustments. The new nationalism tapped deeper emotions, rooted in tradition, language and culture. The cultural renaissance that spilled over from the 1890s into the opening decade of the twentieth century called for Ireland to recover its Celtic character. In the description of William Butler Yeats, this ‘modern literature of Ireland, and indeed all that stir of thought which prepared for the Anglo-Irish war, began when Parnell fell from power’.3 The rise of this political nationalism had been prefigured in the inaugural speech delivered by the first president of the Conradh na Gaeilge, or Gaelic League, in 1892. Douglas Hyde, who decades later would become Ireland’s first president, set as his text ‘The Necessity of De-Anglicising the Irish Nation’. His particular passion was the reinstatement of Gaelic as the national language, but de-Anglicising also meant the restoration of Irish music, literature and dance. A generation of Irish writers, poets and playwrights rose to the ambition. The Gaelic Athletic Association (GAA), founded in 1884, set itself the same nationalist ambition, promoting traditional sports such as Gaelic football and hurling over the English imports of cricket, soccer and rugby. Unashamedly discriminatory, the GAA barred from membership anyone who also bowled a cricket ball or pulled 21on a rugby shirt. The mission of the celebrated Abbey Theatre, founded by Yeats and the folklorist Isabella Augusta, Lady Gregory, was ‘to bring upon the stage the deeper emotions of Ireland’.

         Gaelic was the language of only a small minority, particularly in cosmopolitan Dublin. Yeats wrote his poetry in English. For all that, the capital’s bustling literary salons and theatres were the crucible for a sharper definition of Irish identity. Culture acted in turn as a recruiting sergeant for the radical republican societies that sought the physical overthrow of British rule. Éamon de Valera, Michael Collins and Patrick Pearse were among the many future revolutionary leaders who as young men held membership cards for the Gaelic League. They and others drew inspiration from the Young Ireland movement, which had staged an abortive rebellion when much of Europe turned to revolution in 1848. In its aftermath, the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB) and its allies among the Irish diaspora in the United States, the Fenian Brotherhood and Clan na Gael, staged sporadic attempts at uprisings. After the collapse of Parnell’s Home Rule plans, they were joined by other secret societies and paramilitary groups, including the Irish Citizen Army and the women’s militia Cumann na mBan. By the time the writer and newspaper editor Arthur Griffith founded Sinn Féin (Ourselves Alone) in 1905, nationalist ambitions had made way for violent republicanism.

         Asquith’s plan was no longer enough for Irish nationalism and too much for Protestant unionism. In Ulster traditional unionism merged with the militant loyalism of the Orange Order. For Edward Carson, the establishment of an Irish parliament, even one within the bounds of empire, was the beginning of an inevitable slide to republican, and Catholic, rule. The tens of thousands who dressed up in their Sunday finery to march every July in celebration of William of Orange’s victory over James II judged power 22transferred to Dublin as power surrendered to Rome. Nationalism and popery were indivisible. Protestants, under Asquith’s plan, would soon be ruled by Catholics. The confessional divide was entrenched by contrasting economic fortunes. The most important economic event in the south during the previous century had been the death and depopulation wrought by the Great Famine. The north, and Belfast in particular, had prospered greatly from Britain’s Industrial Revolution, sharing in the manufacturing and trade boom that came with the expansion of empire. By the turn of the twentieth century Protestants counted for barely 10 per cent of the population in the three ancient provinces of the largely agrarian south. In the nine counties of Ulster they measured half.

         The unionists’ anti-Catholic fervour joined with deep mistrust of the United Kingdom government to which they formally pledged allegiance. In 1911 fifty thousand gathered to listen to Carson’s fiery rhetoric at the Craigavon estate of fellow unionist James Craig. If Asquith pressed ahead, Carson declared, unionism would take control of the ‘Government of the Protestant Province of Ulster’. The threat was made explicit in September of the same year, when Ulster was brought to a standstill for the public signing of a ‘Solemn League and Covenant’. Some 470,000 Protestants put their name to the pledge to use ‘all means which may be found necessary’ to preserve Ulster’s place within the United Kingdom – even if that meant defying the parliament of that same United Kingdom. Backing the pledge, Charles Frederick D’Arcy, a bishop in the Church of Ireland, acknowledged the inherent contradiction: ‘We hold that no power, not even the British Parliament, has the right to deprive us of our heritage of British citizenship.’4 Within a year the unionists had armed a ninety-thousand-strong Ulster Volunteer Force (UVF).

         The unionists had friends in the highest ranks of the Tory party. Its leaders looked the other way as guns – twenty-five thousand 23rifles and five million rounds of ammunition – were shipped into the north from the Kaiser’s Germany to arm the UVF. Determined to oust Asquith, Bonar Law was unperturbed by this threat to overturn Britain’s constitutional order. For the Tory leader what mattered was that Ireland promised to bind the wounds of division in his party over imperial trade preferences. Carson had allies too in the senior ranks of the army. When Asquith’s government considered sending in troops to confront the unionist militias, British officers at the Curragh barracks in County Kildare all but mutinied. They threatened to resign their commissions rather than march north to face down the UVF. The officers found a powerful sponsor in General Henry Wilson, the army’s director of military operations and a future chief of the imperial staff. Wilson, whose family boasted an ancestor who had arrived in Antrim with William of Orange, conspired openly with Carson and the UVF. He would later boast that ‘we soldiers beat Asquith and his vile tricks’. When Lloyd George called the truce with the republicans in 1921, Wilson accused him of ‘rank, filthy cowardice’.5

         Shocking as Bonar Law’s backing for an armed coup against the elected government was, the Conservatives were not alone in putting politics before principle. When Asquith first reached Downing Street in 1908 he showed little interest in reviving his party’s support for Home Rule. It took electoral arithmetic to bring a change of heart. After a series of bruising encounters with the Tory-dominated House of Lords and a failed gamble on a general election, by 1910 he found himself dependent for his House of Commons majority on the votes of the seventy-odd MPs of the IPP, now under the leadership of John Redmond. Reviving the deal Gladstone had struck with the nationalists was a matter of simple political expediency: Home Rule in return for the Irish votes at Westminster that would allow him to break the stranglehold on his 24government exercised by a Tory-dominated House of Lords. It was too late, though, for half measures.

         
            ———

         

         The rebellion that began on Easter Monday 1916 would enter Irish history as a daring revolutionary act that read the rites over seven centuries of British oppression. It seemed otherwise at the time. The occupation of Dublin’s General Post Office and several other buildings in the centre of the capital had been planned by the Irish Volunteers, effectively the military wing of the IRB, as part of a nationwide uprising. Alongside the Irish Citizens’ Army, the trade-union-based militia led by James Connolly, and the women of the republican Cumann na mBan, the rebellion was planned to inflict a decisive blow on British rule. The Volunteers were republicanism’s answer to Carson’s Ulster militia. The operation’s planning, however, fell foul of disputes about strategy within the republican leadership. On the very eve of the uprising, local commanders across the country were ordered by the movement’s political leadership to stand down. Radicals led by Patrick Pearse pressed ahead.

         The proclamation of the Republic was read by Pearse on the steps of the Post Office on Easter Monday. It allowed no doubt as to its revolutionary intent:

         
            In the name of God and of the dead generations from which she receives her old tradition of nationhood, Ireland, through us, summons her children to her flag and strikes for her freedom … [We] hereby proclaim the Irish Republic as a Sovereign Independent State, and we pledge our lives and the lives of our comrades in arms to the cause of its freedom, of its welfare, and of its exaltation among the nations.

         

         25Pearse was declared the first president of the Provisional Republic and some 2,500 printed copies of the proclamation were distributed around the capital. But save for sporadic attacks by Volunteers on police stations and public buildings in the rest of the country, the 1,500 fighters in Dublin found themselves alone. They held their positions for a week against overwhelmingly superior British forces, countering heavy artillery with rifles and home-made bombs. The eventual surrender was inevitable. For all the cordite, in the phrase of historian Roy Foster, the rebellion had been the work of ‘a minority of a minority’. Initially, the national mood reflected this. Opinion was largely critical. The Irish Independent, a pro-Home Rule newspaper, spoke for the nationalists among Dublin’s middle classes when it said that the rebellion had ‘not a shred of public sympathy’. Under the headline ‘Criminal Madness’, its editorial declared that ‘no terms of denunciation … would be too strong to apply to those responsible for the insane and criminal rising of last week’. The rebels, it continued, were ‘willing dupes’ of Prussian plotting, ‘out, not to free Ireland, but to help Germany’.6

         It fell to the British to turn military victory into political defeat. That the uprising was soon written indelibly into Ireland’s nationalist folklore was due for the most part to the British government’s summary response once the rebels had been bombed into surrender. After a series of brief court martials, dozens of the leaders faced a sentence of execution. Some three thousand suspects were arrested and many of them were sent to England for internment. Michael Collins was among those who found himself in a prison camp only recently vacated by German prisoners of war. On the orders of Sir John Maxwell, at the head of British forces in Ireland, fifteen rebels, including the commandant Pearse, were summarily shot. They included the seven signatories to the proclamation: Thomas J. Clarke, Seán MacDiarmada, P. H. Pearse, James Connolly, Thomas 26MacDonagh, Éamonn Ceannt and Joseph Plunkett. The hanging of Roger Casement, the celebrated Anglo-Irish diplomat who had tried and failed to recruit the Kaiser to the republican cause and been apprehended after landing on the west coast by way of a German submarine, followed a few months later.

         The execution of the rebel leaders was met with an international outcry, with British diplomats in Washington reporting deep dismay in President Woodrow Wilson’s administration. By the time Lloyd George’s government responded by commuting the remaining death sentences, it was too late. Irish nationalism had been gifted another set of martyrs. The ‘blood sacrifice’ had long held a special place in the nationalist cause. Now it was fixed front and centre. And the republicans were adept propagandists. The proclamation became a sacred text, setting armed defiance – and willing martyrdom – as the unavoidable route to the restoration of Ireland’s liberties and nationhood. Some 485 died during the uprising, including 64 of the rebels and 116 soldiers on the British side. The rest were civilians caught in the crossfire. It was the executions that changed everything. The prominent MP John Dillon, a champion of the peaceful transition to self-government favoured by the Irish Parliamentary Party, rose in the House of Commons to accuse the government of ‘washing out our whole life work in a sea of blood’. For Yeats, the killing of the rebel leaders unleashed an irresistible force:

         
            
               Now and in time to be,

               Wherever green is worn,

               All changed, changed utterly:

               A terrible beauty is born.

            

         

         The impact was momentous, transforming the framing of the nationalist cause in Ireland’s public mind. Dillon’s constitutional 27nationalism was elbowed aside by revolutionary republicanism that demanded a complete break with the British colonialists. The economic nationalism of the Home Rulers was replaced by the more powerful emotional pull of a republicanism rooted in Celtic identity and Catholicism. God was on the side of the rebels. The republicans coalesced around Sinn Féin, the organisation established a decade earlier by Arthur Griffith. Griffith, an intellectual, had previously championed the idea of a joint Anglo-Irish monarchy modelled on the Habsburg arrangement for the Austro-Hungarian Empire. Leadership of the new movement fell to Éamon de Valera. Alone among the Easter Rising’s senior commanders in escaping execution, de Valera became president of both Sinn Féin and the Volunteers, the latter soon to become the Irish Republican Army. General Maxwell was among those who belatedly recognised the wider impact of the retribution he had exacted. ‘There has been a growing feeling that out of rebellion more has been got than by constitutional methods,’ he reported to London. ‘It is becoming increasingly difficult to differentiate between a Nationalist and a Sinn Féiner.’7

         Just as the Easter Rising replaced constitutional with revolutionary politics, it sealed the essentially Catholic nature of nationalism. The Catholic Church hierarchy’s immediate response to the seizure of the Post Office reflected Rome’s reflex fear of all revolutionary movements. The Church, an essentially conservative institution, leant towards authoritarianism. The Vatican instructed the Irish bishops to cooperate in the restoration of civil order. The archbishop of Armagh and primate of all Ireland Cardinal Michael Logue telegraphed reassurance to Rome: ‘Insurrection happily terminated. Insurgents have surrendered unconditionally. Hope peace soon reestablished.’8 Younger priests, and particularly those serving rural parishes in the west of the country, took a more sympathetic view of the rebels. Pearse understood the importance of attaching 28faith to the independence cause. The Provisional Government’s proclamation placed ‘the cause of the Irish Republic under the protection of the Most High God’. The rebels had worn their piety on their sleeves. Austere and authoritarian, de Valera, it would later be said, was never more comfortable than when in the company of priests. In many local churches those executed were all but canonised. Maxwell caught the change in the wind, lamenting the ubiquity of ‘mourning badges, Sinn Féin flags, demonstrations at requiem masses’.9 The rising was bound into the public consciousness as what Roy Foster called a ‘sacrificial insurrection’, appropriating the iconography and mysticism of Catholicism. Ireland’s demand was for a sovereign and Catholic state.

         The Liberal David Lloyd George, who from 1916 replaced Asquith as leader of Britain’s wartime coalition with the Conservatives, hoped at first that the Irish question would go away. The empire was engaged in an existential struggle with Germany. Hundreds of thousands were dying on the Western Front. Ireland could surely look after itself? Carson had joined the coalition. The nationalist Redmond urged the young men of Ireland to join the English in the fight against Germany. In 1914 the government briefly considered extending conscription to Ireland. They then forgot about it. The historian Ronan Fanning counted only one substantial cabinet discussion about Ireland during the fourteen months from January 1917 to March 1918.10 Such was the distance between the thinking in London and the realities in Ireland that in the early months of 1918 the prime minister returned to the idea of compulsory conscription to make up for troop shortfalls on the Western Front. The public furore hardened further the rising support for republicanism, and Lloyd George backed down. The rude political awakening, though, came soon after the Armistice in the general election of December 1918. The results at once buried 29constitutional nationalism and in British minds determined that, whatever the arrangement offered to Irish republicanism, it would exclude the Protestants of Ulster.

         Sinn Féin, on a platform demanding full Irish sovereignty, took seventy-three Westminster seats, many of them won by candidates in prison or on the run. Redmond’s constitutional nationalists were left with only six. Unionists claimed twenty-three, concentrated in Ulster. Lloyd George returned to Downing Street as leader of the Liberal–Conservative coalition. His victory, however, disguised a sweeping shift in the balance of power. Strong Tory gains and steep Liberal losses meant that, de facto, it was now a Conservative–Liberal alliance. Two-thirds of the MPs upon whom Lloyd George depended to stay in Number 10 were Tories. In the biting description of the press baron Lord Beaverbrook, he was a prime minister without a party. The corollary for the Irish question was that he could do nothing without the support of a partner that, during the fight over Home Rule, had rechristened itself the Conservative and Unionist Party.

         Lloyd George’s abiding preoccupation was self-preservation. His character was well suited to the task. The prime minister was as supple a politician as there was to be found. His political fortunes had been built on ruthless opportunism. During the 1912 Home Rule crisis he had been among the first in the cabinet to press Asquith to recognise that an Irish settlement would require separate terms for the unionists. Now prime minister, he had no love for Carson’s party. His private secretary Thomas Jones recorded in his diary that Lloyd George considered unionists as ‘pugnacious’ and ‘stubborn’. They were not to be counted in terms of loyalty alongside the English, Welsh and Scots. ‘We [the British] are only behind them to the extent that we cannot allow civil war to take place at our door which will embroil our own people.’11 And behind them, 30Jones might have added, in order to keep the Tories inside the coalition and Lloyd George in Downing Street. Whatever the forces for change in Ireland, his priority as prime minister was to manage the politics of his government. Ireland had broken Gladstone, and Lloyd George did not intend to see history repeat itself. Much later, the politician and writer Roy Hattersley offered a succinct assessment: Pitt, Peel and Gladstone tried and failed to do what was right; Lloyd George achieved what he deemed to be possible.

         Ireland was in no mood to wait. Elected with a promise to boycott Westminster, the new Sinn Féin MPs gathered instead at Dublin’s Mansion House for the opening of Ireland’s own parliament, Dáil Éireann. Republicans then set about laying the foundations for their own state. Defiance of the British authorities bled into armed ambushes of the Royal Irish Constabulary and the requisitioning of public buildings in towns across the country. Sprung from his cell in Lincoln jail and duly elected president of the Dáil, de Valera crossed the Atlantic to raise Irish American funds for the cause. Michael Collins took effective charge of the IRA Volunteers to wage war on the agents – civilian as well as police and military – of the British state.

         The international pressures on Lloyd George were powerful. In June 1919 the Treaty of Versailles sanctified the doctrine of national self-determination enunciated by US President Woodrow Wilson in his celebrated ‘Fourteen Points’ speech setting the framework for a new global order. The First World War had marked the beginning of the end of the age of sprawling empires. The Austro-Hungarian and Ottoman empires were being broken into new independent nations. Setting itself as the champion of democracy, Washington led the international chorus for decolonisation. Inconveniently, Britain’s stubborn defence of its own empire collided with Wilson’s clarion call for national self-government. Irish 31Americans were assiduous political organisers. They translated a concentration of votes in a handful of north-eastern cities and states into significant clout in Congress. In Europe and the Middle East, populations were being moved across borders to create new, homogeneous sovereign states. For all that it was one of the victors of the war, Britain was not immune from the temper of the times.

         Ireland had become a vital piece in the imperial chess game. In geographical spread, the British Empire had never reached further than during the early 1920s. Many of the colonies, however, chafed at British rule. In September 1920 India’s nationalist leader Mahatma Gandhi called for a strategy of non-cooperation with the Raj. The Indian pro-independence movement announced a boycott of British goods. The nationalist cause in Ireland claimed its own international headlines. So did British efforts to quell the rebellion. The recruitment into the Royal Irish Constabulary of the so-called Black and Tans – an undisciplined force of demobbed soldiers – saw the British abandon traditional military restraint. Alongside a new Auxiliary Division, recruited from former officers in the British army, the strategy of the Black and Tans was to meet violence with more violence, terror with more terror. The arbitrary execution of suspected republican sympathisers became as commonplace as reprisals against innocent civilians after IRA attacks. ‘We are getting an odious reputation,’ the war minister Winston Churchill admitted, ‘poisoning our relations with the United States.’12 In October 1919 Lord Edward Grey, on temporary assignment as ambassador to the United States, telegraphed from Washington: ‘In Anglo-American relations one comes on the Irish difficulty everywhere. It poisons the atmosphere. A statement of Irish policy on self-government lines is now very desirable.’13

         
            ———

         

         32Partition was never part of a grand design for a new constitutional settlement in Ireland. Rather, it was the product of the iterative effort to reconcile the competing demands of nationalism and unionism in a way that suited politicians at Westminster. Ultimately, it would represent in turn the sum of Liberal dependence on the votes of Irish nationalists, Conservative determination to use Ireland as a stick with which to beat the Liberals, the threat from unionists to take up arms in defence of Protestant rule, republican rebellion and British exhaustion. As early as 1912, some form of separation had begun to look like an unavoidable price for a settlement in the south. Churchill and Lloyd George had nudged Asquith towards partition. Carson’s threat of open rebellion hardened the case. Asquith toyed initially with offering each of the nine counties of Ulster the right to opt out of Home Rule. Opposed as he had been to the establishment of any parliament in Dublin, Carson saw the creation of a Protestant citadel in the north-east of the island as a fallback. For his part, Asquith’s assumption was that any division would be temporary – lasting perhaps six years. Militant unionism would not countenance anything but a permanent divide, but Redmond’s Irish nationalists were assured by the prime minister that unity remained within their grasp. The assumption was that the passage of time, shared economic interest and the accretion of mutual trust would bring the two sides together. The sine qua non was that Ireland would remain within the bounds of the British Empire.

         By 1920 all this had been rendered irrelevant by Sinn Féin’s demand for an ‘Irish Republic as a Sovereign Independent State’. That in turn hardened the resolve of unionists. Carson had friends in high places. The former prime minister and senior cabinet minister Arthur Balfour spoke for Tory diehards in Lloyd George’s coalition when he contrasted a ‘loyal and Protestant north’ with the ‘disloyal and Roman Catholic south’. Balfour’s particular 33preference for full integration of Ulster into the United Kingdom was not widely shared, but for the partners in Lloyd George’s coalition absolute guarantees for the unionists were by now non-negotiable.

         Confronted with the competing demands, Lloyd George sought political cover by choosing Walter Long, a former leader of the Ulster unionists well trusted by the Conservatives, to chair the cabinet committee charged with navigating a course out of the quagmire. Its blueprint for a settlement, laid out in the 1920 Government of Ireland Act, would pay homage to the balance of power at Westminster. By appointing Long, Lloyd George had sought immunity against any charge of selling out to Irish nationalism. There was one proposition all sides could sign up to. They had for too long been prisoners of unrest in Ireland. Long’s committee set as its organising ambition ‘the complete withdrawal of British rule from all of Ireland in all measures not especially reserved’. In the historian Ronan Fanning’s formulation, the goal was now to take Ireland out of British politics by taking Ulster out of the Irish question.14

         The Ireland Act marked the decisive step in this direction. The legislation provided for two new parliaments, in Dublin and Belfast, empowered to oversee Ireland’s domestic affairs. Six counties in Ulster – Antrim, Armagh, Down, Fermanagh, Derry and Tyrone – would continue to send thirteen MPs to Westminster. The nationalist-majority counties of Donegal, Cavan and Monaghan, with the blessing of Carson’s unionists, would remain part of the south. The unionists now had their citadel. For how long? Until the Irish, north and south, agreed otherwise. The act made provision for an all-Ireland council as a pathway to eventual unity, but it would be for nationalists in the south to win over northern unionists to the idea. The assumption in London was that at some point they would succeed, but the act offered neither a timetable nor 34incentives. In truth, earlier assumptions of an all-Ireland settlement had all but evaporated. The six-year time limit on the life of the Belfast assembly envisaged by Asquith was no more. The future of the new Stormont assembly would be open-ended until the people of Northern Ireland decided otherwise. The principle of unionist ‘consent’ to political arrangements on the island of Ireland – and ‘consent’ was a word that would echo down the decades – had been set in legislative stone. Speaking in the House of Commons in December 1919, Carson declared the determination of unionists to ensure that such authority would never be offered: ‘You cannot knock parliaments up and down as you do a ball, and once you have planted them there you cannot get rid of them.’ When the Stormont parliament first met in the summer of 1921, one of the first acts of the unionist majority was to introduce measures to further entrench the Protestant hold on power. If the proposed Council of Ireland ever met, it would do so without the presence of unionists. The British had created the border but, in Fanning’s telling phrase, ‘The ending of partition would be a matter for the Irish.’15

         Sinn Féin, waging an increasingly bloody insurgency, was not afforded a place in the British deliberations. It would have no truck with any arrangement that allowed the British to remain in the island of Ireland. Yet the nature of its military campaign reflected its own focus on winning the south. Northern Ireland faced escalating sectarian violence, with the bloodiest losses inflicted on Catholics by unionist militias. The Royal Irish Constabulary, responsible for keeping the peace, abandoned all pretence at even-handedness by recruiting directly from the ranks of the sectarian Ulster Volunteer Force. But the southern support for nationalists from the IRA was limited. Its operations in the north were less than spectacular, avoiding a head-to-head confrontation with loyalists. By contrast, republican attacks on the British were increasingly audacious. In 35November 1920 the killing of fifteen suspected British intelligence agents in Dublin, which would become known as Bloody Sunday, was followed a week later by the ambush of a force of eighteen Auxiliary troops in Kilmichael, County Cork, and the next month by an attempt to assassinate Field Marshal Sir John French, the lieutenant general of Ireland.

         The reports to the politicians from senior military commanders forever predicted victory around the next corner, even as they asked for more battalions and pressed for the widespread imposition of martial law to contain the insurrection. Lloyd George was momentarily persuaded. Speaking at London’s Guildhall only weeks before the spectacular IRA strikes in November, he boasted that ‘we have murder by the throat’. The reality was that the military campaign was being lost even as the generals insisted it could be won. The IRA’s hit-and-run tactics – assassinations, raids on police and army posts, bank robberies – sapped the morale of the police. Under the overall command of Sir Henry Wilson, promoted to chief of the general staff, the response of the British was to tighten the screw of coercion. Martial law was imposed in the most troublesome counties. The lesson of the Easter Rising was ignored. Each time the British turned the ratchet of repression, they widened support for the rebels among local populations. Just as the shooting of the leaders of the 1916 rebellion provided the oxygen for revolutionary republicanism, reprisal killings of innocent civilians increased support for the IRA.

         As the insurrection spilled over into 1921 it was irrefutably clear that Sinn Féin would never settle for the terms that had been offered to the constitutional nationalists in 1914. That version of Home Rule had left Ireland’s foreign and defence policies entirely in Britain’s hands, safeguarding its strategic interests and upholding the legitimacy of the empire. It was also evident that without wholesale slaughter, the uprising could not be put down. 36Looking over his shoulder at the Tory diehards, Lloyd George edged towards compromise. The logical next step was to offer the republicans the Dominion status within the empire enjoyed by Canada, Australia and New Zealand. But how far could he go? Would Dublin, the prime minister worried, demand its own army and navy, the right to impose duties on imports of British goods, and establish its own diplomatic representation in Washington? And what about Ireland’s harbours, vital to protect the Atlantic sea lanes and the waters around Great Britain in the event of war?16 Peace would have to be on terms acceptable to his Tory cabinet colleagues and their unionist friends. The results of the first election to the new Belfast parliament in May 1921 spoke vividly to the new Protestant hegemony. The Ulster unionists, now under the leadership of James Craig, took forty of the northern assembly’s fifty-two seats. The remainder fell to nationalists and republicans. In the elections in the south, Redmond’s nationalists stood back. Unopposed, Sinn Féin won 124 of the 128 seats. The remaining four, reserved for the staunchly Protestant Trinity College, went to independent unionists. The sectarian line between north and south could scarcely have been more sharply drawn. Politically, however, this polarisation presented an opportunity. The challenge for Lloyd George was to strike a bargain with Irish nationalism that would at once satisfy Sinn Féin and win the acquiescence of northern unionism. The more unionists were assured of an iron grip on Stormont, the more room there was for the British government to reach an accommodation with nationalism.

         That spring, the mood in the cabinet began to shift. A year before, Churchill had spoken confidently of crushing the rebels. Now, he edged towards conciliation. He was increasingly convinced that military victory was possible only at a terrible cost in blood and treasure. Britain’s standing in the world would pay the price. 37Having switched from the war ministry to become secretary of state for the colonies, he was conscious of the rising tide of international condemnation of British policy. By early summer he was in favour of a truce with the rebels. A readiness to negotiate with republicanism, he argued, would allow the government to take the moral high ground. And if talks broke down, the IRA would struggle to regain its military momentum. There was a softening too among senior Conservatives. A handful of diehards would never budge, but now unionism was safe, others began to doubt whether the victory promised by the military commanders would ever be possible. Jones, the prime minister’s private secretary, noted in his diary that prominent Tories including Arthur Balfour, Austen Chamberlain and Lord Birkenhead had begun to recognise the realities. Bonar Law would never be reconciled – he thought the Irish an ‘inferior race’ – but others might be ready to put their hands in the blood of compromise. The key was a settlement that upheld the authority of the Crown. The king lent encouragement to the peacemakers. Delivering the opening address at the inauguration of the Stormont parliament in June 1921, George V noted that the ‘eyes of the empire’ were on Ireland. His call was for reconciliation. ‘May this historic gathering be the prelude of a day in which the Irish people, North and South, under one parliament or two, as those parliaments may themselves decide, shall work together in common love for Ireland upon the sure foundations of mutual justice and respect.’ His words, coordinated in advance with Downing Street, were followed on 11 July by a ceasefire.

         Lloyd George’s offer of talks with the republicans was carefully framed. The invitation to de Valera set out a process that would see Ireland ‘take her place in the great association of free nations over which His Majesty reigns’.17 Ireland, in other words, would remain within the imperial family. Restating republican demands for 38complete independence, de Valera protested that Britain sought to set aside partition as ‘an accomplished fact’. There were deep suspicions among republicans as to the seriousness of British intent. The prime minister was facing difficult negotiations with Washington about naval disarmament. Harry Boland, a senior Sinn Féin representative in the US capital, wrote to de Valera of his impression that ‘behind the overtures of Lloyd George there is an ulterior purpose’:

         
            It might well be that England is endeavouring to create a favourable atmosphere here in America, and particularly in Washington, for the forthcoming disarmament parleys. It is not too much to assert that the English delegates would find it impossible to come to this conference if She had continued her bloody work in Ireland.

         

         For all that, on 14 July the Sinn Féin president and republican fugitive crossed the threshold of Downing Street.18 In the acid, private judgement of the prime minister, the British were confronting an ‘uncompromising fanatic’.19 Lloyd George was careful not to let his feelings show when de Valera arrived at Number 10. Instead, he recalled his own Welsh ancestry. In the description of his private secretary, Jones, ‘Mr Lloyd George, never a greater artist than in the first moments of a fateful interview, received the Irish Chieftain cordially as a brother Celt.’20

         De Valera laid out his demands in a letter sent to the prime minister the following month. The republic sought by Sinn Féin could be neither divided nor shackled by any association with Britain. ‘Ireland’s right to choose for herself the path she shall take to realise her own destiny must be accepted as indefeasible.’ ‘Amicable but absolute separation’ was the only route to true friendship.21 The chink of light from the British perspective was that de Valera would 39choose to absent himself from the face-to-face negotiations – delegating them to a team of plenipotentiaries led by Arthur Griffith and Michael Collins. Both men were implacable republicans. ‘I am just a representative of plain Irish stock whose principles have been burned into them,’ was Collins’s self-description.22 Neither, however, showed the same, almost mystical commitment as de Valera to an Ireland detached from all things British. The bargaining that followed saw Lloyd George deploy every ounce of the guile, charm and resilience to which he owed his political fortunes. Above all, in navigating the shoals between republicanism and unionism, the British side displayed a talent for calculated ambiguity.

         The immoveable pillars of the British negotiating stance were that any new state would maintain constitutional ties to the empire and that Northern Ireland would be free to make its own choice. The question was whether ambiguity could be found in sufficient quantities to render this acceptable to the Irish negotiators. During the spring Lloyd George had recoiled from making an offer of Dominion status. By the autumn he felt sufficiently confident of his cabinet to propose just that. The required oath of allegiance to the British Crown would be ‘de minimis’, the Irish negotiators were told. Ireland’s government would defer to the king only in his ‘capacity as head of the state and empire’. Three of Ireland’s seaports would remain in British hands, but the new Irish Free State would have its own armed forces and the right to build its own coastal defences. As for Northern Ireland, ‘Ulster does not want [to join] and we will not force [it]’, the prime minister told the cabinet.23 This did not preclude the application of pressure on Craig to accept an All-Ireland Council to develop cooperation between north and south. The new Northern Ireland, Lloyd George pointed out, needed British money. Jones, who emerged during the talks as much mediator as note-taker, applied the best possible gloss in his contacts with the 40Sinn Féin delegation. If republicans seized the opportunity, Jones told Griffith, ‘We might have Ulster in before many months.’24

         The British side was held together by a shared exhaustion with war. In the Irish cabinet, established by Sinn Féin after the May elections, de Valera led a hardline grouping that pressed for the sovereign republic declared by Pearse. Born in New York to an emigrant Irish mother and Spanish father, de Valera had been brought up in rural County Limerick by his mother’s family, before winning a place at Blackrock College in Dublin. A mathematics teacher by training and the person for whom the adjective ‘austere’ might have been invented, he joined the Gaelic League in 1908 and the IRB’s Volunteers five years later. Folklore had it that, as the commandant of the Volunteers who seized Dublin’s Boland’s Mill during the Easter Rising, he had escaped the firing squad only because of his American citizenship. The US State Department certainly recorded that one of its officials in Dublin had been in contact with the British military authorities at the request of his family. Less clear was whether the intervention was decisive. Tall and slim, Sinn Féin’s president had an earnest and fiercely Catholic temperament, mirrored by his preference for dark suits and overcoats. The long (or tall) fellow, he was often called. What set him apart was the cultural and religious as much as the political depth of his nationalism. De Valera’s republicanism was rooted in the ideals of the Gaelic revival and a passionate personal quest to rescue the Irish language. An independent Irish state would mark only the beginning of the nation’s journey. After so many centuries of English occupation, the recovery of Irish identity demanded the comprehensive de-Anglicisation sought by Douglas Hyde’s Gaelic League. An alien language and culture would be banished to make room for Irish tradition. Ireland’s heart, as Hyde put it, was found in its past.

         41Griffith and Collins were cut from different cloth – the one quiet and considered, the other with a boom in his voice to match his considerable physical frame, but both, crucially, practical revolutionaries impatient to start building the new state. A former journalist, Griffith had founded Sinn Féin with a call for nationalist MPs of the Irish Parliamentary Party to withdraw from Westminster. Absent from the 1916 rebellion but arrested immediately afterwards, he showed his political acumen in gathering up the various strands of republicanism into a reorganised Sinn Féin. He was the architect of Sinn Féin’s policy of abstentionism. He put it into practice when he was elected to Westminster from a cell in Gloucester prison during a second spell of internment in 1918. A year earlier, he had ceded the presidency of Sinn Féin to de Valera, but the latter’s extended fundraising campaign in the United States led Griffith to serve as acting president during much of the war of independence. A critical Irish voice in the forging of the treaty with the British, he would be neglected by history. Collins would be immortalised. The architect of the IRA’s military campaign, Collins, as instinctively bold as de Valera was ascetic, would prove an astute political organiser as well as an accomplished insurgency commander.

         Lloyd George had struggled to find the measure of de Valera – bargaining with the Sinn Féin president, he remarked, was like ‘picking up mercury with a fork’ – but he warmed to Collins’s realism. The energy Churchill had once directed towards military victory was now concentrated on securing a settlement. During weeks of talks, drafts and counter-drafts were pushed across the table and brinks were approached and then stepped back from, the Irish delegates travelling to and from Dublin for consultations with the Sinn Féin cabinet. The British knew Ireland was lost. It was the integrity of empire that mattered. For the Irish, the question was 42how to define national sovereignty. Was it to be absolute – the pure sovereignty sought by de Valera – or could the new state accept an arrangement that would set it alongside the Commonwealth Dominions? How could Ireland be free of its colonial master and still pay fealty to its monarch? As for the north, the unionist parliament was an unavoidable fact, but was it permanent?

         By the beginning of December the British side considered that negotiations had run their course. For his part de Valera proved immoveable on the question of sovereignty, above all on whether the new state would be bound by an oath of allegiance to the Crown. To his mind sovereignty was lost for as long as Ireland remained in the family of empire. As far as he would go was the offer of an ‘external association’ with Britain and its empire. Britain’s last throw was an offer of what Lloyd George presented as a pathway to Irish unity. The treaty would establish a boundary commission to reconsider the border between north and south. Implicit in the offer was an assumption that a review would shrink Northern Ireland at birth. Taken together the six counties produced a sizeable Protestant majority, but in the two closest to the border Catholics held sway. The British negotiators suggested – though never quite promised – that a Northern Ireland shorn of its preponderantly Catholic areas would soon enough be driven into the arms of the Free State. In the north, James Craig, who had for the most part been sidelined during the negotiations, railed against the idea, warning that any decision to redraw the border in the nationalists’ favour would provoke a loyalist insurrection. Carson condemned the plan when the House of Lords debated the treaty. But the political calculus in London had changed. Lord Birkenhead, a staunch unionist turned pragmatist during the course of the negotiations with Griffith and Collins, delivered a celebrated putdown in the House of Lords: ‘As for the speech of 43Lord Carson, as a constructive effort at statecraft, it would have been immature on the lips of a hysterical schoolgirl.’

         Michael Collins arrived in Downing Street at 9.30 a.m. on 5 December for the last round of talks. At a Sinn Féin cabinet meeting in Dublin two days earlier de Valera had spoken out against compromise. But Griffith and his colleagues were plenipotentiaries, free to make their own judgement. They signed. ‘I may just have signed my political death warrant,’ the Tory Lord Birkenhead famously remarked, anticipating charges of betrayal from unionist diehards. ‘I have just signed my actual death warrant,’ Collins replied.

         De Valera disowned the treaty, putting himself at the head of those in the IRA determined to continue the fight. His denunciation found echoes among Protestant leaders in Belfast. The unionist Belfast Telegraph branded the British negotiators as ‘the men who have engineered the beginning of the downfall of the British empire’. For the News Letter they were ‘men without conscience’. The public mood in the south was otherwise. The crowds that gathered in Dublin wanted peace. The debate in the Dáil began on 14 December and continued, with a break for Christmas, until 7 January. The final vote was close. Sixty-four backed the treaty, fifty-seven were against. The national mood was receptive to the sentiment voiced by Collins during the Dáil debate. Ireland had won statehood, with ‘immense powers and liberties’. Britain’s troops would depart. The Free State was ‘defined as having the constitutional status of Canada, Australia, New Zealand, South Africa’. And the agreement did not mark the final destination: it offered ‘not the ultimate freedom that all nations desire and develop to, but the freedom to achieve it’.

         On 16 January Collins, nominated as chair of the Provisional Government, was handed the keys to the British citadel of Dublin 44Castle. De Valera was replaced by Griffith as president of Dáil Éireann. Lloyd George’s government transferred the Auxiliaries from Ireland to support the British security forces in Palestine, another troubled corner of the empire. In March the IRA formally split. Three months later, the implacable unionist Sir Henry Wilson was assassinated by anti-treaty republicans. Faced with the threat that British forces were preparing to intervene, Collins borrowed British artillery to end the occupation by IRA rebels of Dublin’s Four Courts buildings. In August he was killed when his convoy was ambushed by anti-treaty forces in County Cork. Lloyd George would lament the passing of ‘a gallant young Irishman’ who ‘fell to a treacherous blow when he was endeavouring to restore ordered liberty to his country’. Arthur Griffith had died of heart failure two weeks earlier. Collins’s legacy, though, was secure. Ireland had begun its journey to independent statehood. Soon enough it would drift out of the British consciousness.

         Partition threw up awkward truths. The organising grievance of Irish nationalism could not be gainsaid. Whatever might be said about the rights of those who in 1921 preferred allegiance to Britain over an Irish state, the division of the island of Ireland was ultimately the work of British colonial rule and settlement. North and south were different because the English had thrown the native Irish from their lands to make way for English and Scottish Protestants. Sinn Féin’s mistake was to believe this long history could be rewritten in the opening decades of the twentieth century. Like Redmond’s constitutional nationalists before it, Sinn Féin was reluctant to properly confront the political forces at work in the north-eastern counties. When Carson backed partition, he abandoned Protestants living in the south. In defiance of its rhetorical commitment to Irish unity, republicanism did something of the same with regard to Catholics in the north. De Valera paid 45only sporadic attention to the northern counties after the Easter Rising. The energy and focus of the anti-British insurgency were concentrated in the south. Republicanism in the north was a poor relation, mostly neglected by the leadership in Dublin. Sinn Féin theology said that the division of the island was a calumny engineered by the British. From this standpoint, all that was required of Lloyd George in 1921 was to agree to coerce the Ulster unionists into a united Ireland. What the analysis missed – and this had been demonstrated by the arming of the UVF during the passage of the Home Rule bill – was that Carson and then Craig were ready to defy the British as well as fight the nationalists. Much as Lloyd George’s answer to the Irish question was rooted in the search for a political escape route, it was not in his gift to transfer Northern Ireland to a new Irish Republic against the will of 800,000 unionists.
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